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Lincoln Boyhood National Memorial Cultural Landscape Report

CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION

his Cultural Landscape Report fo-

cuses on researching, document-

ing and providing guidelines for

Lincoln  Boyhood  National
Memorial, including a brief contextual
study of the development of state parks
from the late 1920s through the 1940s. The
memorial was developed through a partner-
ship between the National Park Service and
Indiana’s state park program and built by
Civilian Conservation Corps and Works
Progress Administration laborers. It pro-
vides an opportunity to interpret the legacy
of New Deal design and construction pro-
grams and the influence of generations of
landscape architects on many of our nation’s
public landscapes.

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY

Lincoln Boyhood’s designed landscape
commemorates the pioneer farm where
Abraham Lincoln lived from the age of
seven to twenty-one. Located in Spencer

County, in southwestern Indiana, it is also

the burial site for Lincoln’s mother, Nancy
Hanks Lincoln.' Although no physical
traces of the Lincoln’s farm remained, in
the late 1800s, local residents began creat-
ing a memorial landscape at the site. It
provided an opportunity for visitors to pay
their respect to Lincoln’s memory and learn
more about his family’s Hoosier roots. For
many years, the site was maintained as a
local park and picnic area. Because it was
frequently neglected, state bureaucrats be-
came involved during the 1920s. By that
time, the park featured decorative elements

such as ornate gates, concrete sculptures,
omamental plantings, and a picnic shelter.
Around 1927, it caught the attention of
Colonel Richard Lieber, head of Indiana’s
Department of Conservation. Licber, a
prominent and successful leader in the na-
tion's movement to develop state parks,
worked with other Indiana business leaders
and government officials to create a more
appropriate Lincoin memorial. His invoive-
ment lasted well into the mid-1940s. In
total, the site was maintained and inter-
preted as Lincoln State Park for over four
decades.”

Efforts to get Lincoln’s Indiana roots recog-
nized at a national level resulted in the site's
1962 designation as a National Memorial.
The commemorative designed landscape
has since been admuinistered and interpreted
by the National Park Service, and the CCC's
recreational development remains as part of
Lincoln State Park.

Historicar Overview

Local commemoration of Abraham Lin-
coln’s boyhood home began almost imme-
diately following his assassination. Local
residents had their pictures taken in front of
a log structure thought to be the family’s
cabin; at least one artist's painting perpetu-
ated our notion of the Lincoln family's pio-
neer experience. It was not untii 1869, how-
ever, that local residents undertook efforts
to erect a suitable marker at Nancy Hanks
Lincoln's grave.” From time to time, local
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newspapers featured articles condemning
the poor physical state of the grave, renew-
ing calls for a headstone and improved
grounds maintenance. ‘These complaints
continved until 1879, when a permanent
tombstone was placed ai the grave and a
fence erected around the cemetery. Peter
Studebaker, second vice president of the
Studebaker Company Carmriage Makers of
South Bend, Indiana donated the stone, and
money collected by area residents paid for
the fence. During the same year, the com-
pany developing Lincoln City donated one-
half acre surrounding the grave to Spencer
Cmmty.4

In 1897, Indiana Governor James Mount
helped form the Nancy Hanks Lincoln
Memorial Association to raise money for
gravesite maintenance. Spencer County
Commissioners purchased an additional 16
acres surrounding the gravesite in 1900 and
transferred the deed to the Indiana Lincoln
Memorial Association. A second headstone
donated by J.S. Culver to the Memorial
Association was added in 1902. Salvaged
from the stone of Lincoln’s tomb in Spring-
field, Illinois, it became known as the
“Culver Stone” and was placed in front of
the Studebaker marker.

In 1907, the Indiana Assembly dissolved
the Nancy Hanks Lincoln Memorial Asso-
ciation for failing to maintain the gravesite,
Funds, records, and property were trans-
ferred back to the Spencer County Board of
Commissioners. Although both the Stude-
baker marker and Culver stones identified
the grave, the site as a whole was not main-
tained or developed until 1909. The Com-
missioners hired a local landscape architect
to draw up plans for the site, began clearing
accumulated brush and installed a fence,

statuary and ornamental plantings.’

The development expanded as part of the
celebration of Indiana's and Spencer
County’s centennials in 1916 and 1918, re-
spectively. In 1917, approximately twenty
local residents gathered to search out the
site of the Lincoln cabin. Their recollec-
tions brought them near the Lincoln City
schoolhouse. When they began digging,
they found pottery and other debris that
suggested they had found the proper site.
On Aprl 28, 1917, they placed a marker
reading “Spencer County Memorial to
Abraham Lincoln, Who Lived on this Spot
from 1816-1830.”°

Beginning in the early 1920s, local residents
and state officials initiated a movement to
formally commemorate the grave and cabin
site through creation of an Indiana Lincoln
Memorial. The Indiana State Assembly
created the Lincoln Memorial Commission
in 1925 to replace the 1907 Board of Com-
missioners. The act authorized the Com-
mission to purchase land and build struc-
tures; “to prepare and execute .plans for
erect[ing] a suitable memorial to the mem-
ory of Abraham at or near his residence in
the state.”” In 1926, the Indiana Lincoln
Union (ILU) formed to create a Lincoln
shrine. The ILU, together with the Indiana
Departrnent of Conservation, was consis-
tently successful in bringing plans to
fruition over the course of the next twenty
years. Although many individuals were
active in this movement, the most dynamic
may have been Departiment of Conservation
Director Richard Lieber. His early insis-
tence that the memorial epitomize the ideals
for which Nancy Hanks Lincoln and her son
were known led the ILU to proceed with a
prudent, yet proficient eye to developing the

Page 2 Introduction



Lincoln Boyhood National Memarial Cultural Landscape Report

site.

EARLY DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT OF
THE CEMETERY, ALLEE, AND PrLAZA

In January 1927, the state hired Olmsted
Brothers, a renowned landscape architec-
ture firm from Brookline, Massachusetts, to
prepare a preliminary design for the memo-
rial. Frederick Law Olmsted, Jr., visited the
site in March and presented his concepts to
the ILU in May. The ILU soon began a
campaign to raise funds for the memorial.
In 1929, Frank Ball of Muncie, Indiana
purchased approximately 29 acres of the
historic Lincoln farm and donated the land
to the state.® The state began removing
structures in Lincoln City and hired land-
scape architect Donald Johnston to super-
vise implementation of Olmsted’s design,
including the allee and plaza.” A ground-
breaking ceremony in the future plaza area
took place in 1930. Landscape work pro-
ceeded quickly following the groundbreak-
ing. By 1931, a flagpole was raised in the
plaza and the ILU began planning the Trail
of 12 Stones. Within the next year, the state
had completed demolition of the Lincoln
City structures and installed most of the
formal planting along the allee.

The pace of development increased in 1933,
when Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC)
camp #1543, consisting of mostly World
War I veterans was established at Lincoln
City. CCC labor was responsible for large-
scale revegetation—planting approximately
57,000 trees and 3,200 shrubs—and devel-
oping a campground, picnic area, and reser-
voir at what is now Lincoln State Park.
During the single year that the Lincoln City
camp was active, all CCC work was super-

vised by Paul V. Brown. A NPS employee
in charge of Emergency Conservation work
throughout the Midwest; Brown was also
the ILU executive secretary.

Prior to 1934, most landscape development
focused on Nancy Hanks Lincoln’s grave.
Eventually, the scope was expanded when a
CCC crew led by Horace Weber, excavated
the site of the Lincoln cabin. The state then
hired architect Thomas Hibben, an Indiana
native living in New York, to design an
appropriate marker for the cabin site.

Hibben’s bronze memorial was completed
in 1936.

By 1938, the ILU and Department of Con-
servation were ready to begin the next stage
of site development. Richard Lieber again
asked Olmsted's advice on an appropriate
design for a memorial structure. Olmsted
provided another report suggesting several
proposals for such a building. After Olm-
sted's report was accepted, Lieber contacted
NPS architect Richard Bishop for his input
on the design, and in early 1940, hired
Bishop to design and supervise construction
of the memortal building. Construction doc-
uments were approved by October and the
ground breaking was held November 18.
Landscape architect Edson Nott took over
as landscape architect with the responsibil-
ity for incorporating the Memorial Building
into the existing Olmsted/Johnston land-
scape.

By 1944, the memorial building was com-
plete. As part of Nott's consecutive land-
scaping plan, the memorial court was in-
stalled, and the flagpole had been moved
from the plaza to the north end of the allee.
The massive stone benches were also relo-
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cated from the cabin site to the plaza, and
gravel paths were installed from the plaza
to the sides of the building. The memorial
building was now fully integrated into the
landscape, thereby completing the project.

INcLUsION OF LINCcOLN MEMORIAL IN
THE NATIONAL PARK SYSTEM

By 1959, state officials and local residents
felt that the Indiana’s Lincoln Memorial
should be nationally recognized. The initial
legislation, S. 1024, was introduced by Sen-
ator Vance Hartke on Lincoln’s birthday
and called for including the Memorial in the
Natjonal Park system.'® By 1960, the NPS
had determined that the Nancy Hanks Lin-
coln Memorial was worthy of inclusion into
the system, but further political action was
needed before the site’s designation was
official.

H.R. 2470, which proposed the creation of
Lincoln Boyhood National Memorial, was
introduced on Janvary 11, 1961. The bill
called for the transfer of the entire Lincoln
State Park to the NPS. The State of Indiana
generally supported the proposal, but
wanted to keep the recreational portion of
the park under state control. The bill re-
ceived considerable attention in the press,
including a series of editorials in the
Evansville Courier promoting the idea.
"Most area residents, indeed, most Indi-
anans, supported the transfer of the Nancy
Hanks Lincoln Memorial.""' H.R. 2470
passed the House of Representatives on
August 22, 1961, and the park was autho-
rized on February 19, 1962 when President
John F. Kennedy signed PL 87-407, 76 Stat.
9, the act designating Lincoln Boyhood Na-
tional Memorial. The enabling legislation

stated:

That in order to preserve the site in the State of
Indiana associated with the boyhood and family of
Abraham Lincoln, the Secretary of the Interior
shall designate the original Tom Lincoln farm, the
nearby gravesite of Nancy Hanks Lincoln, and
such adjoining lands as he deems necessary for
establishment as the Lincoln Boyhood National
Memorial.!?

Early NPS developments included moving
the state highway from between the memo-
rial building and allee to south of the
memorial building. In 1966, a maintenance
area, exhibit shelter, and employee housing
were added to the west of the allee and
memorial building. The more dramatic
changes during that year were the addition
to the memorial building and alteration of
the memorial court; 1966 also brought Na-
tional Historic Landmark designation.

The next major development took place in
1968, when the NPS completed construc-
tion of the memorial’s Living History Farm
and opened it for visitors. Located near the
cabin site memorial within the boundaries
of the historic Lincoln property, the Living
History Farm was built as part of the joint
venture between the NPS, Department of
Agriculture, and Smithsonian Institution.
The goal was to construct a system of farms
interpreting different historical periods in
units of the National Park system."”

The most recent alteration of the landscape
included the obliteration of the state high-
way. Closed by the NPS in 1966, the actual
asphalt roadbed and corridor of Highway
162 was removed sometime in 1991-1992
when the NPS received a grant to remove
the asphalt and revegetate both the highway

Page 4
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corridor and overflow parking areas.

STuDY BOUNDARIES

This document focuses on the designed ar-
eas within Lincoln Boyhood National
Memorial. Prior to designation as a unit of
the National Park system, the commemora-
tive landscape, then called the *“Nancy
Hanks Lincoln Memorial” was part of a
larger Lincoln State Park. Beginning in the
late 1920s crews from the state of Indiana
and, later, the Civilian Conservation Corps
completed the necessary site work for both
segments. The two parks have always pro-
vided distinct opportunities for visitor use:
the Memorial was intended to honor Nancy
Hanks Lincoln and Abraham Lincoln and
preserve the site of the Lincoln farm, while
the State Park was intended for more active
recreation, such as picnicking and camping.
Specific analyses of and treatment recom-
mendations for the recreational landscape
encompassed by Lincoln State Park is not
addressed in this document. Likewise, the
Living History Farm is considered a non-
historic interpretive exhibit and is only con-
sidered within the context of its impacts on
the historic landscape.

METHODOLOGY AND SCOPE

Both primary and secondary research mate-
rials were used to complete this study. The
most notable sources included plans,
sketches and construction drawings ranging
from Olmsted's early conceptual designs to
the final planting plan installation com-
pleted by the state’s landscape architects.
Historic photos were important for tracing
the design evolution and comparing how
the physical landscape deviated from those

plans. The correspondence of and reports
by members of the Indiana Lincoln Union,
the Indiana Department of Conservation,
and Frederick Law Olmsted, Jr. were essen-
tial to interpreting the rationale for com-
memorating Lincoln in Indtana. They pro-
vided insight into Olmsted’s integral role in
designing both the landscape and the
memorial building. Context studies com-
pleted by NPS historians were also helpful
in preparing the site history. A comprehen-
sive historical chronology appears in Ap-
pendix 1 at the conclusion of this report.

Most written and photographic sources
were located in park and regional office
history files. NPS historian Jill York
O’Bright, author of the 1987 Historic
Grounds Report for Lincoln Boyhood, had
previously gathered information from the
Library of Congress and the Indiana State
Library. Others, primarily drawings, were
obtained from the Olmsted Archives at the
Frederick Law Olmsted National Historic
Site in Brookline Massachusetts. Copies of
files transferred from Northeast Regional
Office to the Federal Archives in Philadel-
phia were ordered. These written docu-
ments provided limited information about
activities at the park during the late 1960s
through the early 1970s.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

This study includes a thorough description
of Frederick Law Olmsted Jr.’s role in con-
ceptualizing the formal landscape and
memorial building. Tt clarifies the subse-
quent contributions of landscape architects
Donald Johnston and Edson Nott, and the
activities of state crews and the CCC. It
also examines how design and construction
projects were carried out within typical

Introduction
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New Deal programs.

By focusing on providing detailed analysis
and evaluation of contributing landscape
- features, a comprehensive and specific
treatment approach is identified, with corre-
sponding recommendations for implement-
ing the appropriate treatment.

Lincoln Boyhood is significant as both a
commemorative landscape and historic site.
Its meaning and use has changed over time,
reflecting shifts in social and political val-
ues. It represents an attempt by local and
state individuals and agencies to recognize
Abraham Lincoln’s formative years in Indi-
ana, honor the resting place of his mother,
bolster tourism and celebrate Hoosier pride
through the artistic use of native building
materials and landscaping plants. The
memorial is also an excellent representative
illustration of the state parks movement car-
ried out as part of Franklin D. Roosevelt's
New Deal programs.

The landscape has medium to high integrity,
with the exception of areas altered in the
1960s and early 1990s. Alterations that
have negatively impacted the overall design
include relocation and subsequent oblitera-
tion of the state highway, enclosure of the
cloister and an addition to the memorial
building to create visitor amenities, and the
development of the living history farm in
close proximity to the cabin site memorial
on the historic Lincoln farm. These activi-
ties have resulted in the loss of the land-
scape’s symmetrical organization, reorien-
tation of circulation patterns, and conflict
between historical and interpretive re-
sources,

NOTES

' Abraham Lincoln’s sister, Sarah Lincoln Grigsby,
is buried in the cemetery at Little Pigeon Baptist
Church, now surrounded by Lincoln State Park.

z During this time, the entire Park was supervised by
one individual, from 1927-1933 by Joe Wicbe, from
1933 to at least the late 1940°s by Walter Ritchie.

* Jill York O’Bright, 1988. There I Grew Up: A
History of the Administration of Abraham Lincoln’s
Boyhood Home , p. 7. The Administrative History
contains a detailed account of the maintenance prob-
lems at the Nancy Hanks Lincoln grave.

*Ibid., p. 11,

* Ibid., p. 15.

® Ibid., p. 17.

7 Ibid., p- 19. In 1925, Spencer County transferred
the 16%% acres surrounding the grave to the State; this
addition, along with a recently acquired parcel, ex-
panded the park to sixty acres.

® Ibid., p. 29.

’ An allee (ah-lay) is “a general term for a walk
bordered by trees or clipped hedges in a garden or
park.” Jellicoe, Sir Geoffrey and Susan Jellicoe,
eds.,. 1986. An Oxford Companion fo Gardens, Ox-
ford: Oxford University Press, 9.

' There I Grew Up, p. 99-100.

" 1bid., p. 107-108.

"2 PL 87-407, 76 Stat. 9.

® There 1 Grew Up, p. 152. Other Living History
Farms were developed during this period at Booker
T. Washington National Monument, George Wash-
ington Birthplace National Monument, Ozark Na-
tional Scenic River, and Pipe Spring National Monu-
ment.
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(CHAPTER 2
Stre HisToORrY

homas and Nancy Hanks Lincoln

and their two children, Sarah, 9,

and Abraham, 7, moved from

Kentucky to southwestern Indiana
in December 1816. They claimed 160 acres
and built a rustic log structure that was
finished by the following spring. In Octo-
ber 1818, Nancy became sick and died from
drinking milk from infected cows. She was
buried in a small pioneer cemetery on a hill
about one-quarter mile from their home.’
By 1819, Thomas remarried, and moved his
second wife, Sarah Bush Johnston, and her
three children from Kentucky to his farm in
Indiana.

Over the next decade, the family continued
to clear land and expand their farm. They
raised a variety of crops and some live-
stock. Abraham and Sarah and their step-
siblings attended school intermittently.
Most of their education was gained infor-
mally; Abraham often borrowed books.
Sarah, who had married and lived nearby,
died in 1828 due to complications during
childbirth. The remaining family members
moved to lllinois in 1830. It was there that
Abraham moved out on his own , eventu-
ally practicing law and entering political
life.

P1ONFER [LANDSCAPE

First surveyed by the General Land Office
in 1805, the land eventualiy claimed by the
Lincolns was described as “land level, oak
and hickory, medium growth is hazel and

other brush very thick. The timber on this
mile is chiefly destroyed by fire.”” Accord-
ing to the surveyors, the trees growing in
the vicinity of the farm included beech,
cherry, wild crabapple, flowering dogwood,
elm, gum, hickory, ironwood, locust,
maple, several oak varieties, poplar, paw-
paw, redbud, sassafras, sycamore, spice-
wood, and walnut.” As Lincoln scholar
Louis Warren stated, the first task of the
settler after his home had been constructed
was the clearing of his land by hand or
using horse teams to prepare it for cultiva-
tion.* Eventually, the area was largely
cleared of large trees and thick understory
vegetation. A farmer’s success was mea-
sured by the quantity of “improved” and
cultivated land; forested land was consid-
ered a nuisance because it was impossible
to raise food crops on such parcels. A
1930s reference text described the pioneer’s
attitude toward this non-renewable re-
source: “timber was so plentiful that there
was scarcely any sale for it; and so when
trees were cut down, only the choicest logs
were used. Black walnut, white oak, and
other hardwoods which [are] costly today
were used for making rails for fences, and
huge quantities of logs for which the set-
tlers had no use were rolled into piles and
burned just to get rid of them.””

By the beginning of the 20™ century, the
southwestern Indiana landscape had
evolved into a varied pattern of cropland,
pasture, and woodlots. In the area surround-
ing the historic Lincoln farm, little native
forest remained; one exception was the
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small hilltop cemetery where Nancy Hanks
Lincoin was buried. The overall area was
dominated with rolling hills dotted by smail
family farms, with the railroad town of
Lincoln City located at the former site of
the Lincoln’s farm.

EARLY COMMEMORATION

Lincoln’s Indiana roots were all but forgot-
ten until his assassination in 1865. Local
residents gathered to have their pictures
taken in front of a structure reputed to be
the Lincoln’s last cabin, and several artists
attempted to depict the modest structure in
paintings. Locals disassembled the cabin
soon after the assassination to retain the
logs as mementos of the fallen president.
Once the cabin was gone, Nancy Hanks
Lincoln’s grave became the focus of local
commemoration efforts. Oral tradition
holds that in 1869, local residents showed a
visiting newspaper reporter to the grave.
After crawling through thick overgrown
brush to reach the site, the reporter wrote
the first of many accounts of the grave's
poor condition.’ Area newspapers began
carrying repeated accounts of the neglect of
Nancy Hanks Lincoln’s grave. In 1879,

Figure 1. Lincoln City residents in front of the re-
puted Lincoln cabin, ca. 1865,

following a second article, the first perma-
nent gravestone was placed at the site. Al-
though it was anonymously donated, it was
discovered that Peter Studebaker, second
vice president of the Studebaker Company
Carriage Makers of South Bend, Indiana
had paid for the stone.” Indiana Governor
James Mount helped found the Nancy
Hanks Lincoln Memorial Association in
1897 in response to another report of the
gravesite’s poor condition.

Complaints over the lack of care continued
into the early 1900s. A major step in
protecting the site occurred in 1900 when
the Spencer County Commissioners pur-
chased sixteen acres surrounding the
gravesite. They transferred the deed to the
Memorial Association, who constructed a
large picnic shelter and drilled a well at the
site. In 1902, J.5. Culver donated a marker
that was carved from stone left over from
the Lincoln tomb in Springfield, Ilinois. It
was placed in front of the Studebaker
stone, and a decorative cast iron fence was
erected immediately around the gravesite.

By 1907, local residents were actively de-
veloping the area surrounding the cemetery

f‘é’% s | o e 5
Figure 2. Studebaker stone at Nancy Hanks Lincoln

grave site.
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Figure 3. Culver and Studebaker stones at Nancy
Hanks Lincoln gravesite.

TRy

into a park. The Legislature had recently
created a Board of Commissioners to care
for the grounds. The Board was given the
funds, records, and property formerly be-
longing to the Memorial Association.®
They were directed to improve and main-
tain the grounds: to “erect ‘a substantial and
ornamental fence around -said burial
grounds and premises and beautify the
same.”” Landscape architect J.C. Meyen-
berg of Tell City, Indiana prepared design
plans for improving the site.” Dead trees
were cleared as the site was prepared for the
improvements. It eventually featured an or-
nate iron gate at the entry, eagle and lion
statuary, a picnic shelter/pavilion, and ex-
tensive ornamental plantings. In 1917, lo-
cal residents attempted to locate the site of
the Lincoln cabin. After unearthing a few
hearthstones and some pottery bits, they
determined that the remains of the cabin
site had been found. “This cabin site was
located on a knoll then in the heart of
Lincoin City, approximately one-fourth
mile north from the top of the hill on which
is located the grave of Nancy Hanks.”"
The county placed a stone marker on the
site as part of the celebration of the 1916
Indiana centennial, and the 1918 Spencer

Figure 4, Memorial park at Nancy Hanks Lincoln
gravesite, ca. 1920,

Figure 5. Spencer County marker on site of Lincoln
cabin. Lincoln City school is shown on right side of
photo.

County centennial.

Despite the fact that Nancy Hanks Lincoln’s
gravesite was being more actively and appro-
priately maintained, visitors frequently drove
their cars into the park on a road that actually
covered part of the cemetery. Complaints
arose about people walking on the gravesites
and leaving litter from their picnics.

State officials became involved in 1923 when
the State Assembly created the Lincoln
Memorial Commission to replace the Board
of Commissioners. They authorized the
Memorial Commission to purchase land
around the grave and cabin site and to
“prepare and execute plans for erecting a

Site History Page 9
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suitable memorial to the memory of Abra-
ham at or near his residence.”’”

In 1925 the legislature acted again by dis-
solving the Commission and transferring re-
sponsibility for the Lincoln site to the De-
partment of Conservation under the direc-
tton of Colonel Richard Lieber. After view-
ing the site, “Director Lieber and associates
determined to commit themselves and the
Department to the task of ending forever
Indiana’s neglect of these sacred sites. He
conceived the possibility of a state memorial
park, encompassing the knolls containing
the cabin and grave sites.”” Not long after
the transfer, another parcel was acquired
bringing the total size of the memorial to
sixty acres. Direct responsibility for devel-
oping the memorial was given to the Indiana
Lincoln Union (ILU) in 1926. The ILU was
a committee of local and state business lead-
ers and state employees. Mrs. Anne Stude-
baker Carlisle, President, and Colonel
Lieber, Executive Committee Chairman, led
the ILU in the early years of the memorial
development.”

CREATING INDIANA'S LiINCOLN MEMO-
RIAL

At one of its initial meetings in 1927, the
TILU decided to hire Olmsted Brothers, a
well-known landscape architecture firm
from Brookline, Massachusetts to prepare a
preliminary design for the memorial. The
contract between the state and Olmsted
Brothers called for the firm to prepare a
general sketch or preliminary plan that
“would indicate quite clearly and definitely
the general lines of character of the develop-
ment.”” Frederick Law Olmsted Jr. found
the request interesting enough to tackle the
job himself rather than assign one of the

Figure 6. Colonel Richard Lieber, Director of Indi-

ana Department of Conservation.

Figure 7. Frederick Law Olmsted, Jr. {center), ca.
1920.

junior employees to the task. He visited
the Lincoln site in March and in May
presented a conceptual plan to the TLU.

Olmsted’s assessment of the existing
commemorative landscape was not very
favorable, though he acknowledged the
sigmficance of the site and recognized
that simplicity was the key to creating a
distinguished memorial:

Page 10
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Tt is most unfortunately true that present condi-
tions, at and around the site, themselves confuse
and distract the visitor’s attention from thought of
Lincoln and of the significance of all that befell
him here. These distracting sights are the results
of mischance and neglect, of the intrusion of utili-
tarian structures of a very different period from
Lincoln’s, and also of the well-meant but misap-
plied cfforts of some of our predecessors to ex-
press, as well as they knew how, their desire to
honor Lincoln’s memory. Of the former class are
the branch railway track and the state highway
with its rushing automobiles, bisecting the space
between the cabin site and the grave of Lincoln’s
mother, and the buildings scattered on and around
the site. Of the latter class are the cast iron gates
with their gilded concrete lions, the bits of garde-
nesque lawn with exotic shrubs and conifer, and
the general ‘slicking up’ of the remnant of second
growth woodland around the grave into the sem-
blance of a town picnic grove or a conventional
‘landscape cemetery.” The first tagk is to elimi-
nate or obscure all such distracting elements,
while avoiding to the utmost the risk of introdue-
ing new distractions of our own creation, and to
leave the surroundings of the cabin site and the

grave quiet, peaceful and unassertively beautiful.'®

As a first step to improving the site, Olm-
sted attempted to set guidelines for simpli-
fying the area surrounding the grave and
cabin sites. He termed these areas “the
Sanctuary,” and felt that they should be
similarly treated. The immediate Sanctuary
“should be freed of every petty, distracting,
alien, self-asserting object.”'” This called
for removing all traces of Lincoln City, as
well as the ornamental shrubs and other
plants that had been planted at the grave. He
directed that the state highway and railroad
bed be rerouted from between the grave and
cabin site so that no vehicles or other intru-
sions would distract from visitor’s contem-
plative experience. He did acknowledge,
however, that parking was necessary and
should be accommodated at the site. Inter-
estingly, he directed that the parking areas
should be somewhat removed from the core

of the memorial, so that visitors could pro-
ceed “on foot into the Sanctuary under con-
ditions favorable for producing the right
impression.”**

While Olmsted felt the design should focus
“upon the problem of making it easy and
natural for other people . . . to be stimulated
to their own inspiring thoughts and emo-
tions about Lincoln,” he also recognized
that the more mundane visitor amenities
had to be accommodated if the memorial
was to be successful. He called for a design
that would allow outdoor assemblies of
varying size, and provide restroom, food,
and gas facilities so that visitors would be
comfortable and better able to enjoy the
experience to be gained at the site:

The utmost artistic skill and discretion we can
command should be devoted to the problem of so
arresting the attention of those who approach the
sanctuary deliberately and even those who ap-
proach it casually in passing, as to make them
aware of its importance and its nature; and to the
problem of so preparing their minds as they enter
it and so influencing them as they consider it that
they may appreciate its message to the greatest

possible degree.zo

Because the site itself did not possess phys-
ical qualities that would render it to a visi-
tor’s memory, Olmsted knew that his de-

. sign would have to overcome the rather

ordinary character of its surroundings:

[1t] demands something of a frankly and boldly
artificial and monumental sort in the approach to
the Sanctuary. . . I have in mind, for example, such
clements as large and well-proportioned vistas and
spaces of turf enframed by noble avenues or
masses of trees, interlocking with well-
proportioned masses of the simplest masonry that

would serve to house the various indoor func-

tions.*!
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Such a feature would not only focus atten-
tion on the Sanctuary; it would also func-
tion as a organizing element for moving
visitors through the site and provide a vi-
sual transition between the highway and the
grave. Individuals as well as groups couid
progress from a parking area to the grave.
Olmsted did not address how to include the
cabin site in the conceptual plan.

Olmsted’s conceptual plan combined the
primary vista—the allee—with the relo-
cated highway bed to create a cross-axis.
This cruciform arrangement provided an
organizational element for circulation
within the memorial: vehicular traffic was
concentrated in an east-west corridor, with
pedestrians travelling from the south to the

north. A parking plaza and large flagpole at

the intersection of the highway and allee
anchored the two axes, and the flagpole
provided a focal point for the south end of
the allee. This arrangement established a
strong spiritual imagery and a solemn atmo-
sphere for presenting the story of the Lin-
coln's experiences in Indiana.

The language used by ILU officials rein-
forced the religious context created by the
physical form of the memorial. Much of
the committee's literature generated for the
memorial fundraising program spoke of
Nancy Hanks Lincoln as the 'sainted
Mother,' referred to her grave as ‘sacred
soil,” and described visits as ‘pilgrimages’.
2 A 1941 promotional article described the
Union’s intentions: “We are erecting here a
shrine to Motherhood and to the family
hearthstone. We are memorializing democ-
racy and religion.”” Because Olmsted did
not include such religious language in refer-
ence to the design (other than his descrip-
tion of the grave and cabin sites as the

Sanctuary), it is difficult to determine if he
considered the cross-axes to be significant
as anything other than an organizing ele-
ment. When one considers the other site
details that accrued over time, such as the
sculptured panel that portrayed a robed Lin-
coln in the Apotheosis, an allegory emerges
of the journey of a motherless boy on the
frontier who grew into the martyred leader
of the nation. This complementary patriotic
message is reinforced by the prominence of
the flagpole. As Olmsted described it:

I am inclined to believe that there is one, and only
one, large and conspicuous object, idealistic in
significance, that could be used as the dominant
object in such an entrance composition without
impertinenice to the Sanctuary within. That object

is a great flagpole bearing the American Flag.z“

The bold formality of the Olmsted plan
made evident the ILU’s intention to com-
memorate the Lincolns and celebrate their
Indiana roots without recreating their pio-
neer farm. Led by Lieber, who felt that such
an approach was inappropriate,” the ILU
strove instead to reflect "Hoosier" values
through straightforward design using famil-
iar construction methods and native plants
and materials. The simplicity of this design
was a reaction to the Classical revival style
of the other Lincoln monuments. While
Olmsted agreed that it was impossible to
accurately reconstruct the Lincoln’s farm,
he did propose restoring part of the native
forested landscape to form the backdrop for
the formal design. A recreated forest would
symbolize the primeval conditions that the
pioneers struggled against, and was "the
only one of now vanished features of the
place characteristic of Lincoln's time which
can be reproduced without sham or false-
hood."*
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Figure 8. Olmsted Jr.’s Preliminary Plan for the Lincoln Memorial, 1927, The Nancy Hanks Lincoln Memorial
was later subsumed by Lincoln State Park. There was, however, a clear distinction between the Memorial, with
its commemorative intent, and the State Park, which was recreational in character.
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BuiLpimng THE MEMORIAL

By 1929, following extensive correspon-
dence, Olmsted’s plan was accepted and the
ILU had hired landscape architect Donald
Johnston to refine the conceptual plan and
supervise construction activities.”” An en-
ergetic statewide fund raising program
brought in close to $230,000, which in-
cluded pledges from over 40,000 Indiana
schoolchildren of twenty-five cents or less.
The state began acquiring properties on
which the memorial was to be developed. A
ground-breaking ceremony was held in
1930, and over the next year, crews hired
by the Department of Conservation worked
on removing most traces of Lincoln City
including the

school house, church, the general store and hotel,
and a score of residences. . . The mud streets and
alleys that criss-crossed over the place we have
filled in and graded, eroded hillsides were sown in
grass and evidence of the former entrance and the
iron fencing of the original tract has been taken
down and used as part of the fencing around the

whole tract.”®

Under Johnston’s supervision, the workers
completely regraded existing topography
between the grave and the proposed loca-
tion for the relocated state highway. By the
time the allee, the plaza, and highway grad-
ing was complete, over 17,000 vards of
earth had been moved.” State crews then
constructed the stone walls around the
perimeter of the plaza and pylons along the
highway.30 The design, as implemented by
Johnston and the state crews, closely fol-
lowed Olmsted’s plan, with slight changes
to the shape of the plaza, and omission of
masonry features along the allee.

Other site work completed during 1930
included constructing a boundary fence and

Figure 10. Breaking ground at the plaza, 1930.

"modem service building,” making repairs
to the custodian’s cottage, and undertaking
massive reforestation of surrounding agri-
cultural land by planting almost 40,000 na-

tive trees and shrubs. The reforestation, rec-

ommended in Olmsted's report, took place
after he consulted Department of Conserva-
tion foresters. The ILU hired George R.
Wilson, a former Dubois county surveyor,
to gather notes describing native vegetation
from the 1805 general land survey.”

By 1931, the plaza wall and exedra were
finished, and the flagpole was raised on the
island at the center of the intersection (see
Figure 10—the exedra was subsequently
replaced by the Memorial Building).”
Planting crews continued the reforestation
effort, and began working on the plantings
within and around the plaza. In total, 36 red
oaks, 40 cedars, and over 400 "special nurs-
ery stock trees” were installed.” Planting
continued into 1932, moving to the allee,
which was lined with symmetrical rows of
shrubs and trees to focus attention on the
Sanctuary. Walkways at the outer edges of
the allee were lined first with dogwood
shrubs (Cornus stolonifera), followed by a
row of Tulip poplars (Liriodendron tulip-
ifera), with an outer edge of Sycamore
(Platanus occidentalis). By using shrubs
and trees native to Indiana forests, the for-

Site History
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Figure 11. Study sketch by Johmston showing
memorial building at north end of allee. Note
shape and design for plaza and presence of over- ;
flow parking meadows,

Figure 12. Study sketch by Johnston with memo-
rial building at south end of allee.
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Figure 13. Construction of plaza and allee, 1932. Figure 14. Early photograph of allee. The picnic shelter

that preceded Olmsted’s design is visible to the left of
the allee.

o
o
? Dines &
Figure 15. An ecarly plan for the Memorial by Nott. Note the formal character of the
southern parking meadow,
Site History Page 19
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mal planting would then blend into the natu-
ralistic surroundings.

Olmsted’s plan included limited parking
space. Johnston expanded this notion to
include overflow lots east of the plaza on
either side of the state highway-—a concept
formalized in the plans of Edson Nott, the
state’s second landscape architect.  The
overflow areas consistently appeared as
meadow-like open spaces when not in use,
providing a sequence of open and enclosed
spaces to make a transition between the
rural surroundings and the formal land-
scape. This sequencing of open and en-
closed views and large and small-scaled
outdoor spaces was frequently integrated
into designs by late 19" and early 20" cen-
tury landscape architects. Originating in the
English Landscape School, this approach

was first promoted in America by Andrew
Jackson Downing:

The sequence of changing vistas was central to
Downings vision . . . The memory of what was
past and the anticipation of what lay ahead height-

ened the individual’s response.™

It was soon employed by such early land-
scape architects as Frederick Law Olmsted,

Figure 16. CCC camp at Lincoln State Park.

Figure 17. Celebration in plaza, 1934. Note exedra at right side of plaza.
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Figure 18. CCC excavation at the cabin site. The
Spencer County marker was moved to the Trail of
Twelve Stones.

Sr. at Prospect Park, Charles Platt at Bryn
Mawr, and Albert Davis Taylor at Forest
Hill Park. By the late 1920s, when the Indi-
ana Lincoln Memorial was designed by
Olmsted, Jr., this approach had been region-
ally interpreted by landscape architects of
the Prairie or Midwest School of landscape
design such as Ossian Simonds and Jens
Jensen.”

In 1933, Civilian Conservation Corps camp
#1543 was established at Lincoln City.
Most of the camp’s efforts were focused on
the Lincoln State Park site, as the allee was
almost complete. The CCC’s involvement
at Lincoln State Park was typical of their
role in developing state parks across the
nation; they focused on providing recre-
ational amenities. ' Their initial projects in-
cluded building a dam to create a large
reservoir, building a pumphouse, clearing a
fire Hine and route for an electric line, and
initiating a topographic survey for the north
end of the memorial near the cabin site. By
1934, workers had completed the installa-
tion of an irrigation system at the allee, and
planted a total of 8,000 native trees to
screen State Road 162.° Their major ac-

Figure 19. Construction of bronze cabin site memo-
rial by CCC crews, 1935.

complishment for that year was excavating
the Lincoln cabin site, which will be dis-
cussed in detail in a following section of
this chapter.

BUILLDING THE TrAlL OF TWELVE
STONES

In 1931, J1.I. Holcomb, President of the
Indiana Lincoln Union, suggested another
major design feature for the commemora-
tive landscape. He thought it would be of
"interest to have a collection of stones from
the various points of Lincoln interest™
along a wooded trail to interpret Lincoln's
life. The trail would also include stone
benches and tablets describing the stones’
origins. ILU members and other interested
parties began acquiring stones immedi-
ately, though it is unclear when the trail
construction began. By the time it was
completed in 1934, the trail had received
quite a bit of publicity in local newspapers.
One promotional piece described the trail’s
appearance and function as

more than a mile in length . . . a gravel path about
a yard in width, outlined in stones. At present it
passes through fields yet unlandscaped and cov-
ered with weeds and briers [sic], but offering a
beautiful native setting. At irregular intervals
along the path the pilgrim comes upon the shrines
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Figure 20. Cabin site memorial, 1936. Note
benches and paving.

and while as yet they are but mere outlines, it is
not difficult to imagine their finished beauty, Al-
though somewhat similar, each shrine will be indi-
vidual when completed. Each shrine will be espe-
cially landscaped to emphasize its historical sig-
nificance. At each shrine when completed there
will be stone or rustic benches, where the pilgrim
may rest. The stones for the shrines, collected by
the Lincoln Union represent considerable time and
effort. Members of the union, personally, or
through friends, have brought in these stones, 12
in number, across a period of years.”

‘While the Trail of Twelve Stones was not
part of Olmsted’s plan, it provided a signifi-
cant physical and allegorical link between
the cabin and gravesite. By connecting
Lincoln’s childhood home to his mother’s
grave, Johnston continued the theme of pil-
grimage. The trail symbolized the visitors’
journey during which they could learn
about and reflect upon the different stages
of Lincoln’s life, and also represented the
sad story of his childhood: the passage from
innocence into maturity upon the death of
his mother and his eventual sacrifice for the
nation.

CABIN SITE MEMORIAL

The cabin site memorial was the final com-

Figure 21. Completed cabin site

memorial, 1950.

ponent of the initial landscape development.
The memorial was located on the approxi-
mate site. of the original Lincoln cabin,
which at that point was marked by the 1917
Spencer County marker on the playground
of the Lincoln City School (the marker
served as homebase for softball games). It
was connected to the cemetery by the
“Boyhood Trail” which was built as part of
the state’s plan. The ILU had already ac-
quired the land and demolished the school
and other surrounding structures when ar-
chitect Thomas Hibben was hired to design
an appropriate marker. ILU officials de-
cided that a cabin reconstruction was inap-
propriate, so Hibben proposed that a
bronzed formation of sill logs with a fire-
place and hearthstones be placed on the
exact location and approximate grade level
of the original Lincoln cabin. The design
also incorporated masonry retaining walls,
stone benches and flagstone walkways. The
goal was

to mark the cabin site in such permanent means
that knowledge of its location may not be lost to
history and in such a manner as to indicate the
sacredness of this spot. The log sill is chosén as
appropriate to mark the outline of the cabin; the
hearth and fireplace are chosen because they have
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been, since time immemorial, the altar of the
home, the center around which all life moved.
The entire conception is cast in bronze in order
that it may be durable and that it may not in any
way seem a reconstruction of the original cabin.
The entire purpose of the design is intended to be
a symbol of the hearth and home of the Lincoln

family.

When the cabin site was excavated in 1934,
hearthstones were uncovered about eigh-
teen inches below grade, substantiating the
belief that it was indeed the location of the
Lincoln cabin.® The stones were pho-
tographed and stored while Hibben person-
ally selected typical womn sill logs, recon-
structed a typical pioneer fireplace, and su-
pervised the taking of the plaster casts in
preparation for construction of the cabin
memorial.” The original hearthstones were
displayed in a steel and glass case that was
sunk into the ground at the end of the sili
logs within the walled memorial. They
remained there until around 1946, when
they were moved to the State Library Build-
ing in Indianapolis. Some of the stones
were brought back to the memorial in 1960,
and may have later been incorporated into
the fireplace display inside what is now the
Memorial Visitor Center.”’

The cabin site memorial was the one com-
ponent of the designed landscape where the
CCC played a major role. The crews coor-
dinated the excavation, located and docu-
mented the approximately 150 hearth-
stones, and completed the memorial accord-
ing to Hibben’s specifications. Horace We-
ber, the supervisory engineer described the
CCC operation:

there was a cabin site marker [the Spencer County
Marker] that was erected some years previously
and that marker, a granite marker. . . was moved
by our men, I mean the group of CCC men. That

marker was moved about 200 feet east and re-
focated on the trail [Trail of Twelve Stones] going
to the east. . . the monument was supposed to
occupy the center of the Lincoln cabin and that
area ] set up as a bench mark and with my transit.
I not only located the various points there by using
the transit and steel tape, but also the elevations.
The transit was there for weeks and weeks, from -
the time the top of the hill was shaved off and
leveled, which began about the first day of June,
until the work was completed the last day of June.
There were usually 30 men working in the crew
for me. [ had the responsibility of carrying out the
blueprints that were used and that had been pre-
pared up at Indianapolis by the Park authorities.
The superintendent of our camp was Orin Reed
and in addition to him, of course, we had an
architect and three or four Civil Engineers, and

three or four men who were overseers.*

According to Weber, the stone walls, exca-
vation, grading, and filling were completed
by June 1934. It was not until the following
summer, however, that the bronze logs
were in place. Problems getting the project
contract approved and the complexities of
dealing with the contractor in Germany
contributed to this delay. While they were
waiting for the memorial to be completed,
the CCC crews continued on other aspects
of the design, including the formal arrange-
ment of gravel and flagstone walks. The
stone for the wall and walkways was sand-
stone quarried at St. Meinrad, ten miles
from the memorial. The wall had a smooth
finish, while the paving was more textured.
According to the CCC superintendent’s
monthly report, all the stone was laid by the
same mason, Unfortunately, the mason’s
name has not been recorded.”

When the bronzed memorial finally arrived
in the summer of 1935, it was transported to
Lincoln City by boxcar in wooden crates.
The CCC crew moved it to the site and put
it in place under Weber's direction. Like
the allee and Trail of Twelve Stones, the
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cabin site memorial received much public-
ity when it was completed. There was still
work to be done on landscaping the imme-
diate area and reforesting the surrounding
landscape. According to Weber, "the whole
area there, which is just opposite the small
town of Lincoln City lying to the east, the
whole area was devoid of trees and covered
with grass. Tt looked like a pasture field,"*
Edson Nott completed a planting list and
plan for the cabin site memorial in 1937
that incorporated curvilinear beds at each
corper of the upper terrace. The beds were
to include lush plantings of native trees,
shrubs and flowers, including tulip poplar,
shrubby St. John’s wort, honey locust,
brook euonymus, thicket hawthome, east-
ern wahoo (evonymus shrub), prairie crab,
meadow rose, wild sweet crab, prairie rose,
pfitzer juniper, snowberry, black choke-
berry, blackhaw viburmum, purple choke-
berry, fragrant sumac, pagoda dogwood,
American redbud, silky dogwood, and pros-
trate juniper.” By 1938, state park super-
intendent Walter Ritchie reported that "the
planting around the cabin site of native
plants is about 50% completed. . . The state
is fumishing everything for the cabin site

S s

planting.”*  Although his account docs not
specify, he appears to be describing the
surrounding reforestation effort, rather than
the formal planting. Because no pho-
tographs or correspondence have been
found as documentation, it is not known if
the formal planting plan for the cabin site
memorial was ever installed.

MemoriaL Bunping/CoOurT

The second major construction phase at the
Lincoln Memorial began in 1938 and con-
Although they were

tinued until 1945,

Figure 22. Model of Thomas Hibben'’s early design
for the memorial building.

Figure 23. Sketch from Olmsted showing conceptual plan of memorial building.
Courtesy Frederick Law Olmsted National Historic Site, Olmsted Archives.
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Lincoln Boyhood National Memorial Cultural Landscape Report

pleased with the commemorative landscape,
the ILU members realized that a facility was
needed to anchor visitor activities and ac-
commodate large groups. Thomas Hibben
had completed a conceptual design for such
a building during the early 1930s, but by the
time the ILU was ready to undertake con-
struction, members decided that his design
was not appropriate for the site. Colonel
Lieber decided to once again approach
Frederick Law Olmsted, Jr. for guidance on
the issue. Lieber wrote to Olmsted in the
summer of 1938 to ask him to visit the site
and provide a report to the ILU. He ex-
plained that Olmsted’s input was needed
because "that which has been done up to
date is perfect in its simplicity and quiet
impressiveness. [He acknowledged] the
fear that we may intrude with magnificence
and interfere with the spirit of the place.””’
In the same letter, he enclosed a rough
sketch indicating his ideas on where the
structure should be located.® Lieber fol-
lowed up with a second letter to Olmsted
after just a few days. He described his fears
about the project in more detail, mentioning

his concern about the formality of the plans
to date:

this is the worst of the situation that, back of this
porgeous medern poetry in stong you must come
face to face with the simplest kind of historical
reality. Unrelated to each other the building
would dominate, breise, nay crush the very object
of our veneration; that unpretentious little grave
holding the body and the enigima of Nancy Hanks
Lincoln.*

At this point in the discussions, the ILLU had
not determined where the memorial butld-
ing should be sited. The early intention was
to place it at the north end of the allee, near
the grave. Lieber described the difficulty in
determining a location in a letter to a J.I
Holcomb, again mentioning his concern
about intruding upon the grave:

Mr. Olmsted in August convinced me that the
placing of a building or buildings between the
flagpole island and Nancy Hanks grave would be
an intrusion.  Buildings in that location would
disrupt the musings, the reveries or contempia-
tions of those who come to visit that litile hal-

fowed spot.fio

Figure 26. Early Olmsted sketch showing concept for memorial build-

ing.
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While Lieber’s decision solved the location
dilemma, it raised the issue of whether to
remove or retain the exedra and how the
strong axial symmetry created by the allee
and highway would be addressed by the
building design. While these issues were
being resolved, Lieber and other ILU offi-
cials continued to wait for Olmsted’s written
report, which had been delayed by his ill-
ness. He was finally able to complete and
submit the report in February 1939 In the
report, Olmsted had agreed that the "formal
composition” was incomplete, and thought a
building would provide an important anchor
for the memorial. He discussed a number of
alternatives, including

a) placing a single monumental struc-
ture surrounding the grave, creating
a “Cloister” to protect the grave (this
was the first time such a concept was
considered for the design),

b) placing a single monumental struc-
ture just south of the grave on the
terrace, .

¢) placing a single monumental struc-
ture at the southern end of the allee
near the highway, or

d) placing a pair of smaller structures
somewhere along the allee north of
the highway. '

Olmsted then proceeded to reject these op-
tions, because he thought they would either
overwhelm the simple cemetery or would
interfere with the straightforward symmetry
that had been established by the allee—it
would “seem ill-related to the composition
as a whole, restless and ‘unanchored’ N By
May, Lieber notified Olmsted that the
Building and Plans Committee of the ILU
had convened and accepted his report. The
committee adopted his fifth recommenda-

tion—to place a set of buildings flanking
the allee at the south end of the allee on the
opposite side of the highway. This approach
required removing the existing exedra while
incorporating its semi-circular shape to cre-
ate a "court of honor" between two wings.

The semi-circular wall would feature five .

sculpted panels depicting the significant
phases of Lincoln’s life.

Olmsted's proposal to divide the memorial
building into two wings or halls represented
a second prolonged debate almost equaling
the concern over the building's location.
Both Lieber and Olmsted, recognized early
that placing a structure on or near the allee
complicated the strong linear relationship
between the cemetery, allee, and flagpole.
He felt "any single axial structure of compa-
rable bulk [would] interrupt the continuity
of the line of movement toward the grave."”
A matched pair of structures on either side
of the allee would create a portal through

~which visitors could pass to begin their

journey up to the grave. Olmsted had ini-
tially suggested a bi-symmetrical layout in
1927, during the first construction phase.
To do so would “divide the main building
into two masses between which the vista to
the inner gate would open. There would be
two advantages to such a rearrangement. It
would concentrate the monumental interest
on that side of the line of travel. . . and it
would present the sunlit south side of the
memorial building to the highway and the
plaza, instead of its north side.™ Olmsted
revisited the impact of natural lighting pat-
tems in the 1939 report, explaining that
because the building and sculpted panels
would face the allee to the north, they would
always be shadowed. Recognizing the sub-
tle qualities of sun on the exedra, he pro-
posed a curved wall concept for the memo-
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rial building:

1t 15 at present a siriking and very happy character-
istic of the scene, as one emerges from the woods
around the grave and looks southward down the
vista on any sunny afternoon or morning, that the
concave form of the simple little exedra wall be-
yond the flagstaff presents a delightful gradation of
suplight and shadow, subtly changing with the
angle of the sun, always agreeable in its relation to
the low wooded hills beyond, to the soaring
flagstaff in front, and to the long simple vista of

the greensward in the foreground.™

While the shape of the exedra inspired Olm-
sted to suggest that a curving wall attach the
two wings, he acknowledged that adapta-
tions to the original would have 1o be made.
In comparison with the allee and flagpole,
the exedra walls were inadequately scaled.”
He suggested that the two wings be spaced
widely enough so as to create a "court of
honor" that echoed the width of the allee,
and that the court be raised up several steps
from the plaza to create a formal spatial
hierarchy. The curving wall would create a
southem terminus for the court, with the
sculpted pancls acting as a focal point
within the court. He debated whether it
should be a simple wall feature, or have
sufficient depth so that it became a central
unit connecting the two halls.”” The arrange-
ment had a strongly horizontal emphasis,
and relied on textured masonry and sculpted
panels to capture visitor’s interest.

The sequence of events during the second
construction phase followed a pattern simi-
lar to that of the landscape development.
Again, Lieber and the other supporters ac-
cepted the Olmsted proposal, then hired a
another designer, in this case, National Park
Service architect Richard Bighop, to finalize
the design, complete the construction draw-
ings, and supervise the on-site work. Lieber

Figure 27. Nott’s Plan for the memorial, ca. 1940.

had actually conferred with Bishop prior to
his appointment, asking the architect’s opin-
ion on the overall landscape treatment as
well as Olmsted’s conceptual suggestions
for the memorial building. On January 12,
1940, Lieber, J.I. Holcomb, and Charles
DeTurk, Director of the Indiana State Parks,
met with Bishop to offer him the position.

Bishop agreed with the ILU’s approach
taken at the site, and set about bringing the
conceptual plan to fruition. He continued
the use of native Indiana materials and re-
lied on local craftsmen for detail wood and
stone work. The goal was to create a build-
ing that suggested the best design and con-

e
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struction practices of Lincoln’s day, and
"express(ed] the qualities of simplicity,
strength and dignity which are invariably
associated with Lincoln’s character."” In
an effort to maintain simplicity, Bishop felt
it was important that all elements of the
building have a utilitarian purpose. While
this had already been achieved with the two
halls, the decorative curved wall that held
the sculptural panels still posed a challenge.
According to Bishop's report:

developing this thought and finding a legitimate
use for the semicircular court wall, in addition to
having it bear the proposed sculptural panels, be-
came an important problem. The Architect’s plan
solved this problem by expanding the wall into
semi-circular curved passage (now called the clois-
ter) to connect the adjacent ends of the two halls.
The inside wall of the cloister and the two adjacent
ends of the halls would of course form the desired
memorial court. With the interiors of the adjacent
ends of the two halls planned as entrance
vestibules, the cloister would provide a covered
passageway from one building to the other. This
cloister will also serve as a very useful shelter. To
make access to and through the cleister from the
memorial Court convenient and attractive, four
doorways alternating with the five memorial pan-
els were located on the inside wall of the court

with corresponding docrways on the outside
59
walls.”

Bishop and Edson Nott created a hierarchy
of spaces along the progression from the

Figure 28. View of cloister from south of memorial
building,

2 24 L

Figure 29. View of memorial court, 1950.

plaza, through the court and into the halls
and cloister. As visitors moved from their
cars into the building, each subsequent area
was slightly elevated: the court’s brick
walkway was raised three steps above the
plaza to the north, and the cloister floor was
then five steps higher than the floor of the
memorial court.  Curving stone steps
around the south side of the court accom-
modated this transition, which raised the
sculptured wall panels so that they were
visible from throughout the southern part of
the memortal.

The memorial building project continued
under Bishop’s supervision until 1945, The
Department of Conservation was responsi-
ble for funding the construction and hiring
crews to complete the job. The state was
unable to utilize any of the federal work
programs still underway, as the projected
budget exceeded the limit for their pro-
jects.""’0

The second construction phase called for
more landscaping projects. Bishop worked
with Edson Nott on the plans, though by the
time they were completed, money for in-
stallation was limited. Nott had designed
an extensive planting scheme for the

+
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memorial using native shrubs and perenni-
als. His plans expressed a level of detail
missing from either Olmsted, Jr. or John-
ston’s plans, including installing walkways
around the memornal buildings, planting
beds at the cabin site memorial, and follow-
ing removal of the exedra, redesighing the
walkways and plantings within the memo-
rial court.

According to Bishop’s 1944 report, Nott’s
plantings had been installed around the
memorial building. In his submittal the
following year, he reported that crews had
created openings in the corners of the stone
wall around the perimeter of the plaza,
moved the stone benches from the cabin
site to the comers of the plaza, and com-
pleted the gravel walks from the plaza to
the back of the building. The lawn and
plantings around the memorial building
were still in need of some work, and the
court's brick walkways were almost com-

it

plete. The remaining projects included re-
placing several trees on the allee, relocating
the gravel walks around the recently relo-
cated flagpole, and repairing or replacing
the stone steps to the flagpole terrace.”
Although exhaustively searched, archives
and park files contain very little documenta-
tion of changes that were made following
the building’s completion through the ac-
quisition by the National Park Service. It
appears that Nott’s designs for the cabin
site memorial was only partially completed,
and that only his ideas for the memorial
building plantings were realized. The am-
phitheater at the southern end of the memo-
rial was never built. Interestingly, park staff
recall ornamental plantings behind the
memorial building, but there are no pho-
tographs or written records illustrating that
this area was ever elaborately landscaped.

Figure 30. View of enclosed cloister and altered memorial court,
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CHANGES TO SiTE DURING NPS Ap.-
MINISTRATION

In 1959, the National Park Service initiated
the new area study to determine whether

" Indiana’s Lincoln Memorial merited inclu-

sion into the National Park system.” The
study was complete by the following vear.
While it recognized the memorial’s signifi-
cance, the report recommended that the site
remain under state ownership and adminis-
tration. Over the next two years, Indiana's
legislators in Washington tried to get a bill
passed to create the park, and on February
19, 1962, President Kennedy signed P.L.
87-407, 76 Stat. 9, the act authorizing the
establishment of Lincoln Boyhood National
Memorial.

To implement P.L. 87-407, the state con-
ducted a boundary survey of lands to be
transferred to the federal govemment. The
survey had to be approved by Indiana's
Governor and the Secretary of the Interior
prior to the transfer. Once the NPS estab-
lished a presence at the memorial in 1963, it
set about making changes to the site. The
master planning process for the memorial
began in 1959 and extended into the mid-
1960s. The plan proposed many changes
that were never implemented, such as
adding parking areas, closing the plaza to
vehicular traffic, paving the allee and walks
on the terrace and through the woods.
Those that were undertaken inchuded, first,
relocating the state highway from between
the allee and memorial building to a route
south of the building. The second, and
more extensive, undertaking was adapting
the memorial building for use as a visitor
center. The decision to alter the existing
building was made after an extended debate,
during which NPS officials at the park as

well as the central and regional offices re-
visited many of the issues raised during the
fate 1930s and 40s. Some felt that a new,
separate structure should be erected near the
north end of the allee. Others looked back
at Olmsted's arguments:

in deliberating on it, we have again gone back to
Frederick Law Olmsted’s original eloquent ex-
pression about this historic place. We enclose a
copy which states, far better than we can do, the
philosophy we believe should be followed in treat-
ing the Lincoln Boyhood site. We have also
considerad the guidelines set forth by the architect
when the Memorial structures were designed. . .
stating his view that no structure should be erected
on the hill where the grave is located. . .

On the basis of this data, and owr own study, we
have concluded that the knoll that inclodes the
grave of Nancy Hanks is clearly a part of the
sanctuary. We should not intrude our modern
Visitor Center or any other building into this
location.®?

Eventually, the NPS decided to enclose the
cloister’s front (north) wall and add a wing
to its south side to create an interpretive and
administrative facility. Deig Brothers Lum-
ber and Construction Co. of Evansville
were awarded the contract on June 24,
1965. The total award was $244,774.%
Enclosing the building necessitated adding
a central walkway to the court, and replac-
ing plantings that were removed or dam-
aged during construction. By 1966, the
NPS had completed the building and altered
the court landscape to accommodate the
building changes.” Other "improvements”
made to the park during the mid-1960s
included adding a maintenance complex
and employee housing at the west edge of
the park.

The second major change instituted by the
NPS was the construction of the Living

Page 34 Site History



Lincoln Boyhood National Memorial Cultural Landscape Report

History Farm. It was built as part of a
system-wide historical interpretative pro-
gram in partnership with the Department of
Agriculture and the Smithsonian Institution.
According to Lincoln Boyhood's Adminis-
trative History, initial conversations be-
tween the park and the regional office
weighed two alternatives: "a living histori-
cal farm 'oriented to the bronze foundation'
as a symbol of the 1817 foundation, or a
'period' farm."” A small controversy devel-
oped between park and regional officials
and historic preservation personnel over the
"historic” farm; as the latter raised issues
related to compliance with the 1966 Na-
tional Historic Preservation Act. A concern
was also raised that the farm might distract
visitors from the memorial’s primary re-
sources.” Although stipulations were put
in place to limit the impact of the farm on
the cabin site memorial, six of the stones
along the Trail of Twelve Stones were relo-
cated during the farm's construction.

The Living History Farm was built using
agricultural structures from around Indiana.
Workers disassembled buildings following
their purchase, moved them fo the park,
where they were put back together. The
NPS hired individuals from the surrounding
communities to complete this task, which
took only two and one half months. The
Living History Farm continues to be a pop-
ular interpretive program at the Memorial.

RECENT CHANGES TO THE DESIGNED
LANDSCAPE

The NPS has undertaken at least two exten-
sive projects that impacted the memorial
landscape in recent years. In 1988, the allee
plantings were completely replaced and the
planting beds around the memorial building

rehabilitated. Keith Kreuger, Regional
Landscape Architect in the Midwest Re-
gional Office completed a Landscape
Maintenance Guide, and the subsequent
work was completed under contract. The
Maint-enance Guide’s planting plan uti-
lized species suggested by Nott in his 1937
plan. Nott's plan called for extensive, dense
plantings, and photographs from the 1950s
show that shrubs in front of the building
were massive and tended to overwhelm its
scale. Because no "as-built” drawings of the
original landscaping around the memorial
building have been located, it is difficult to
determine how closely the plants now in
place replicate the historic appearance.

The 1960s relocation of State Highway 162
resulted in the abandonment of the east arm
of the cross-axial design. For almost
twenty-five years the roadbed and former
overflow parking areas were intact. The
iron gate that marked the entrance to the
park in the 1920°s was installed at the east
end of the plaza in 1986 to block the old
highway. In 1993, the park received a grant
from the Drackett Corporation to obliterate
the roadbed and revegetate the corridor and
parking areas. Concerns over the impact of
this action on the historic designed land-
scape were mitigated by an agreement to
maintain some semblance of the former
corridor by retaining several yards of open
space immediately east of the plaza and
preserving the stone pylons at the entrance
to the parking areas. The remaining corri-
dor and former parking areas were re-
planted with native trees, including oaks,
dogwood, and black walnut. Several picnic
tables have been placed in the open space
immediately behind the gate.
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SUMMARY

Despite the changes that have been made
by the National Park Service to accommo-
date changing visitor needs, the designed
landscape at Lincoln Boyhood today ap-
pears much as it did in the late 1940s when
the State of Indiana put the finishing
touches on its memorial. The design ex-
hibits the hand of all three landscape archi-
tects: Olmsted, Johnston, and Nott, and
represents the dedication of Department of
Conservation officials, especially Colonel
Richard Lieber, to follow the project
through to its completion. Above all, it
reflects a localized need to commemorate
Lincoln, and demonstrates how national
trends in design and recreation, came to-
gether to fulfill that desire.

NOTES

' The cemetery was the resting place of other vic-
tims of the ‘milk sickness.” Today, the total number
of graves in the cemetery 1s not known, though it has
been estimated to be approximately 35. Forest Frost
and Scott Stadler, 2000. Intensive Archeological
Resource Inventory of Lincoln Boyhood National
Memorial, Spencer County, Indiana, 1997.1999:
Results and Recommendations [IMWAC Technical
Report No. 64]. Lincoln Nebraska: National Park
Service, Midwest Archeological Center, 13.

? Louis A. Warren, 1991(reprint). Lincoln’s Youth:
Indiana Years Seven to Twenty-One, 1816-1830,
New York: Appleton, Century, Crofts, Inc., 20-21.
*Paul V. Brown, 1938. The Indiana Lincoln Memo-
rial in Spencer County, Indiana. [This pamphlet
was published by the Indiana Lincoln Union. An
appendix in this publication contains a report sub-
mitted by members of Committee on Lincoln Flora,
Fauna, and Family, by George R. Wilson, January
12, 1928

* Warren, 26-27.

* 1E. Switzer, 1937. The Geography of Indiana,
Boston: Ginn and Company, 30.

6 Brown, 11.

7 O’Bright, 11.

* The Indiana Assembly dissolved the Memorial
Association and transferred respensibility for the
Lincoln site to the Board of Commissioners.

° Brown, 14.

' John E. Santosuosso, 1970. A Survey of Lincoin
Boyhood National Memorial and Lincoln City, Lin-
coln Ciry, Indiana. National Park Service: Lincoln
Boyhood National Memorial, 101-102.

"' Brown, 14.

 O’Bright, 29.

" Brown, 15.

"It is not known if Mrs. Studebaker Carlisle was
related to Peter Studebaker, the South Bend busi-
nessman who donated the marker at Nancy Hanks
Lincoln’s gravesite in 1879.

* Letter from Frederick Law Olmsted, Jr. to Charles
G. Sauers , 6 January 1927, Park History Files,
Lincoln Boyhood National Memorial.

' Written report from Frederick Law Olmsted to
Colonel Richard Lieber and the Indiana Lincoln
Union, 24 March 1927. Park History Files, Lincoln
Boyhood National Memorial.

7 Ibid.

" Ibid.

¥ Ibid., 4.

* Thid.

! Ibid.

Z Brown.

B , 1941. Outdoor Indiana. Indiana Depart-
ment of Conservation, July, 62.

* Olmsted’s 1927 report.

B Frederick Law Olmsted Jr., to Indiana Lincoln
Union, 16 March 1927. Park History Files, Lincoln
Boyhood National Memorial.

* Olmsted's 1927 report, 6.

* Olmsted was also asked for and provided an initial
cost estimate for the entire memorial project: Memo-
rial Building ($300,000 to $400,000); Flagshatft,
Gateways, Walls and Steps ($200,000 to $400,000};
Boundary and other Fencing ($25,000 to $50,000);
Grading, Clearing, and Demolitions ($130,000 to
$200,000);  Planting/Grassing  ($35,000 to
$100,000+)—total $690,000 to $1,130,000. Tele-
gram from Frederick Law Olmsted to Department of
Conservation , 17 August 1927. Park History Files,
Lincoln Boyhood National Memorial.

* Letter from Paul V. Brown to C.I. Schreiber, 8
April 1931, Park History Files, Lincoln Boyhood
National Memorial.

# Brown, 44.

* Ibid. Thomas Hibben designed the stone perimeter

Page 36

Site History



Lincoln Bovhood National Memarial Cultural Landscape Report

walls and pylons. They were placed at the entrance
to the parking "meadows” at the north and south
sides of the highway to the east of the Allee and at
the edge of the State Park near the west highway
entrance.

A Brown, 44, 62-68.

2 An exedra is an architectural detail inspired by
Greek and Roman Classical design. It consists of a
semicircular wall or series of columns intended for
use as a seating area. The exedra at the Indiana
Lincoln Memorial was connected to the stone walls
on the south side of the Plaza, in front of the present
location of the Memorial building. A semi-circle of
red cedars lined the back of this short-lived feature.
2 Olmsted’s 1927 report, 6.

* Linda Flint McCleland, 1998. Building the Na-
tional Parks: Historic Landscape Design and Con-
struction. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University
Press, 20.

3 Norman Newton, 1971. Design on the Land: The
Development of Landscape Architecture. Cambridge
Massachusetts: Belknap Press, 237, 346, 376,
William Tishler, ed., 1989. American Landscape
Architecture: Designers and Places. Washington
DC: The Preservation Press, 41, 74, 84, 104; and
Phillip Pregill and Nancy Volkman, 1993. Land-
scapes in History: Design and Planning in the West-
ern Tradition. New York: Von Nostrand Reinheld,
434-447, 597,

** Oren Reed, 1933 and 1934 Accomplishment Re-
ports. Park History files, Lincoln Boyhood National
Memorial.

*" Letter from Pau! Brown to Louis Warren, § Octo-
ber 1931. Park History files, Lincoin Boyhood Na-
tional Memorial.

* “Stones Taken From Scenes Vitally Linked With
Life of Lincoln Made Inte Shrines at Nancy Hanks
Park,” Evansville Courier and Journal, 1 January
1933. Park History files, Lincoln Boyhood National
Memgerial. There is no documentation to substantiate
whether the trail was landscaped beyond the park-
wide reforestation efforts. Any stones that may have
lined the edges of the trajl have been removed.

* Brown, 37. -

“ Charles E. Shedd. 1959. Historic Site Survey:
Lincoln State Park and Nancy Hanks Lincoln State
Memorial, Spencer County, Indiana, Philadelphia:
National Park Service, Region Five, 15.

" Brown, 46. International Art Foundries was
awarded the contract for creating the bronze cabin
memorial. They subcontracted with a German com-
pany to cast the memorial. The original stones were
displayed at the cabin site memorial in a glass case

set in the ground for some time following its comple-
tion. The display was removed sometime prior to
1946. In 1964, Superintendent Robert Burns sug-
gested in a2 memo to the regional director that the
stones be used in the new visitor center exhibits.
Former NPS historian Bifl Bartelt’s notes from June,
1985, state that the stones were used in Exhibit 14 in
the museum displays. Park History Files, Lincoln
Boyhood National Memorial.

* Horace Weber. Interview with Bill Bartelt, 9 May
1970. Park History Files, Lincoln Boyhood National
Memorial.

“ Oren Reed, May 1934. Monthly Progress Report
for Indiana E.CW. Camp no. 2, Lincoln State
Memorial Park. Park History Files, Lincoin Boy-
hood Nationai Memorial.

“ Weber Interview.

* Edson Nott. Planting Plan for Cabin Site Memo-
rial, 29 November 1937. Olmsted Archives, Brook-
line Massachusetts.

“ Letter from Walter Ritchie to Paul V. Brown, 14
November 1938. Park History Files, Lincoln Boy-
hood National Memorial.

“ Letter from Richard Lieber to Frederick Law
Olmsted, 10 June 1938. Park History Files, Lincoln
Boyhood National Memorial.

* Richard E. Bishop, 1944. The Nancy Hanks
Lincoln Memarial: An Account of the Planning and
Development of the Memorial Buildings, Sculpture
and Grounds by the Indiana Lincoln Union and the
Indiana Depariment of Conservation, published by
the Indiana Lincoln Union, 14.

“ Letter from Richard Licber to Frederick Law
Olmsted, 13 June 1938. Park History Files, Lincoln
Boyhood National Memorial. .
* Letter from Richard Lieber to J.1. Holcomb, 13
December 1938. Park History Files, Lincoln Boy-
hood National Memorial.

5! Building and Plans Committee Minutes, 13 May
1939, Park History Files, Lincoln Boyhood National
Memorial.

* Report submitted by Frederick Law Olmsted to
Colonel Richard Lieber, 7 February 1939, 16. Park
History Files, Lincola Boyhood National Memorial.

* bid., 11.

* Letter from Prederick Law Olmsted to Paul V.
Brown, 23 August 1927, Park History Files, Lincoln
Boyhood National Memorial.

** 1939 Olmsted Report, 16.

* Ibid., 17. In the final design, the curved wall
became a series of straight panels connected to form
a semi-circle.

7 Tbid., 17-19.

Site History

Page 37



Lincoln Boyhood National Memorial Culinral Landscape Report

* Richard Bishop report submitted to Department of
Conservation, 28 fune 1939, 2. Park History Files,
Lincoln Boyhood National Memorial,

* Bishop, 1944, 32. The two h